A DRAFT BROADCASTING LAW FOR MONGOLIA

Approved [ADD DATE] Ulaanbaatar City

CHAPTER ONE

General Provisions

Article 1. Purpose of the Law

The purpose of this Law is to provide for the regulation of broadcasting in the public interest, including through the establishment of an Independent Broadcasting Council.

Article 2. Legislation on Broadcasting

2.1. The Legislation on Broadcasting shall consist of the Constitution of Mongolia, this Law, the Law on Communications and other legislative acts and regulations consistent with those laws.

2.2. If the provisions of any international treaties which Mongolia has ratified are inconsistent with those in this Law, then the provisions of the international treaty shall prevail.

Article 3. Definitions in this Law

- 3.1. In this Law, the following terms shall be interpreted as follows:
 - 3.1.1. "advertisement" means any public announcement intended to promote the sale, purchase or rental of a product or service, to advance a cause or idea or to bring about some other effect desired by the advertiser, for which broadcasting time has been given up to the advertiser for remuneration or similar consideration;
 - 3.1.2. "Advertising Code" means a set of standards governing broadcast content which constitutes an advertisement;
 - 3.1.3. "Annual Report" is the report required to be prepared by the Council pursuant to Article 20.
 - 3.1.4. "basic service" means the minimum package of television and/or radio channels which subscribers to a satellite or cable service are required to purchase;
 - 3.1.5. "broadcasting" means the dissemination of broadcast programming, including through terrestrial transmitters, cable, satellite or any other medium, for public consumption and for simultaneous reception, whether or not by subscription, through a radio and/or television broadcast receiver or other related electronic equipment, but does not include communications internal to a private organisation or government body, such as closed circuit television or internal address systems, or communications disseminated through the Internet;

- 3.1.6. "broadcaster" means an organisation that engages in broadcasting, be it a public service broadcaster, a commercial broadcaster or a community broadcaster;
- 3.1.7. "Broadcasting Frequency Plan" means a plan for the allocation of the broadcasting frequency spectrum among the various uses such as television and radio, national and local licences, and public, commercial and community broadcasters;
- 3.1.8. "broadcasting frequency spectrum" means that part of the electromagnetic wave spectrum which is part of the public domain and which may from time to time be assigned to be used for broadcasting uses, but does not include other frequencies, such as those used for telecommunications purposes;
- 3.1.9. "broadcasting service" means a defined service which consists in the broadcasting of audiovisual or sound material to the public, sections of the public or subscribers to such service;
- 3.1.10. "commercial broadcaster" means a broadcasting organisation that is neither a public broadcaster nor a community broadcaster and which is operated on a for-profit basis;
- 3.1.11. "Commission" or "Communications Regulatory Commission" means the Commission established under the Law on Communications, 2001, to issue communications licences and otherwise regulate communications;
- 3.1.12. "community broadcaster" means a broadcaster which is controlled by a non-profit entity and operates on a non-profit basis, carries programming serving a particular community including by reflecting the special interests and needs of that community, and is managed and operated primarily by members of that community;
- 3.1.13. "Council" means the Independent Broadcasting Council established by Article 6;
- 3.1.14. "free-to-air" means terrestrial broadcasting which is provided without a direct charge for reception to the recipient;
- 3.1.15. "independent producer" means an individual or company who produces programmes for radio or television and who is not controlled by any individual broadcaster;
- 3.1.16. "licence" means a licence issued by the Commission for purposes of providing a broadcasting service to the public;
- 3.1.17. "licensee" means an individual or organisation who has been granted a licence to provide a broadcasting service to the public;
- 3.1.18. "local content" means broadcast material produced by a licensee, by a permanent resident of Mongolia or by a company the majority of whose shareholdings are held by permanent residents, or a co-production in which the above mentioned persons have at least a 50% financial interest but does not include advertisements;
- 3.1.19. "Minister" means the minister in charge of the ministry responsible for broadcasting;
- 3.1.20. "Ministry" means the ministry responsible for broadcasting;
- 3.1.21. "Programme Code" means a set of standards relating to general broadcasting content and practices;
- 3.1.22. "Programme Schedule" means a plan indicating the general types of programmes proposed to be broadcast, along with the proportion of broadcasting time to be devoted to such programmes and to advertising,

and the target audience, but for cable or satellite services the Programme Schedule means a description of the basic service and of all other services provided;

- 3.1.23. "public broadcaster" means a broadcaster subject to public ownership which has a mandate to broadcast in the public interest;
- 3.1.24. "satellite broadcasting" means the dissemination of a broadcasting service by means of satellite transmission;
- 3.1.25. "sponsorship" means the participation of a natural or legal person who is not engaged in broadcasting activities or the production of audiovisual works in the direct or indirect financing of a programme with a view to promoting the name, trademark or image of that person;
- 3.1.26. "subscriber" means a person who receives a broadcasting service at a specific location in exchange for a prescribed fee, without further transmitting that service to any other person; and
- 3.1.27. "terrestrial broadcasting" means the dissemination of a broadcasting service via the electromagnetic wave spectrum for direct reception by homes or businesses without needing equipment other than radio or television equipment.

Article 4. Name of this Law

- 4.1. This Law may be cited as the Mongolian Broadcasting Law 2010.
- 4.2. This Law shall come into operation on such date as the Minister may, by notification published in the *Official Gazette*, appoint, provided that in the absence of such notification, this Law shall come into effect six months after it has been passed by the Great State Hural.

CHAPTER TWO

Broadcasting Policy

Article 5: Broadcasting Policy

- 5.1. The airwaves are a public resource which shall be used to promote the public interest and the right of the public to a diverse range of information and ideas.
- 5.2. Broadcast regulation shall seek to promote the following policy goals:
 - 5.2.1. to uphold the Constitution of Mongolia, as well as human rights, democracy and the rule of law;
 - 5.2.2. to protect and promote freedom of expression;
 - 5.2.3. to encourage creative national broadcasting;
 - 5.2.4. to promote a diverse range of quality broadcasting services, including by licensing all three types of broadcaster, namely public, commercial and community;
 - 5.2.5. to enhance the public's right to know through promoting pluralism and a wide variety of programming on matters of public interest;

- 5.2.6. to prevent monopolisation of ownership and promote fair competition in the broadcasting sector;
- 5.2.7. to promote accurate, informative and balanced programming;
- 5.2.8. to encourage the provision of quality educational programming;
- 5.2.9. to promote the widest possible geographic distribution of broadcasting services;
- 5.2.10. to develop and promote broadcasting reflecting national and regional culture and identity;
- 5.2.11. to promote the appropriate use of new technology; and
- 5.2.12. to enhance the overall financial and competitive viability of broadcasting in Mongolia.

CHAPTER THREE

The Independent Broadcasting Council

Article 6: Establishment of the Council

- 6.1. The Independent Broadcasting Council is hereby established as a body corporate having perpetual succession and a common seal which may:
 - 6.1.1. sue and be sued;
 - 6.1.2. purchase, acquire, hold or alienate real and personal property; and
 - 6.1.3. do or perform such other things as bodies corporate may by law do or perform.
- 6.2. The Council is an independent institution which is accountable to the people through the Great State Hural.
- 6.3. The Council shall enjoy operational and administrative autonomy from any other person or entity, except as specifically provided for in this or any other law. This autonomy of the Council shall be respected at all times and no person or entity shall seek to influence its members or staff in the discharge of their duties, or to interfere with its activities, except in the discharge of a specific authority or duty provided for by law.

Article 7: Appointment of Members

- 7.1. The Council shall consist of five (5) Members, all of whom shall have some expertise, by virtue of their education or experience, in the areas of broadcasting, policy, law, technology, journalism and/or business and who shall be known for their high moral standards, integrity, impartiality and competence.
- 7.2. Each of the following bodies shall nominate one member to sit on the Council:
 - 7.2.1. The Bar Association.
 - 7.2.2. The National University of Mongolia.

- 7.2.3. The Press Institute.
- 7.2.4. The Gandantegchinlen Khiid Monastery.
- 7.2.5. Human rights NGOs having been registered and active for at least three years.

[NOTE: THIS IS JUST AN INDICATIVE LIST WHICH SHOULD BE FINALISED TAKING INTO ACCOUNT THE LOCAL SITUATION]

- 7.3. The bodies listed in sub-article 7.2 shall publish the name of their proposed candidate and the public shall be given an opportunity to make representations concerning that candidate prior to appointment.
- 7.4. Members shall be appointed by the Prime Minister, provided that if the Prime Minister rejects any member proposed by the bodies listed in sub-article 7.2, he or she shall provide reasons for this and the proposing body shall have the right to nominate another member.
- 7.5. All Members of the Council shall be independent and impartial in the exercise of their functions, shall represent the public interest and not the body that nominated them or any other particular interest, and shall, at all times, seek to promote broadcasting policy as set out in Article 5.
- 7.6. Members of the Council must not actively engage in politics.

Article 8: Disqualifications of Members

- 8.1. No one shall be appointed as a Member of the Council if he or she:
 - 8.1.1. is not a citizen of Mongolia;
 - 8.1.2. is, or has been within the last two years, employed in the civil service or any other branch of government;
 - 8.1.3. holds, or has held within the last two years, an elected position in the Great State Hural or in any local government, or holds an official office in, or is an employee of, a political party;
 - 8.1.4. holds, directly or indirectly, significant financial interests in telecommunications or broadcasting;
 - 8.1.5. is an undischarged bankrupt or insolvent; or
 - 8.1.6. has been convicted of a violent crime and/or a crime of moral turpitude unless five years has passed since the sentence was discharged.
- 8.2. Where, by virtue of a will, gift or otherwise, a Member obtains an interest noted in sub-article 8.1.4, he or she shall, within a period of two (2) months, either dispose of the interest or resign from his or her position as Member.
- 8.3. In any case where sub-article 8.2 becomes applicable to a Member, he or she shall not take part in any decision-making process of the Council until he or she has disposed of the relevant interest.

Article 9: Tenure and Removal

- 9.1. Members shall serve on the Council for five (5) years and may be re-appointed to serve a maximum of two terms, provided that the Minister shall identify two (2) individuals from among the original group of appointees whose initial term of office shall be just two (2) years.
- 9.2. A Member may be removed from office only where that individual:
 - 9.2.1. becomes, by virtue of sub-article 8.1, ineligible for appointment to the Council, subject to the provisions of sub-article 8.2;
 - 9.2.2. commits a serious violation of his or her responsibilities under this Law, including by failing to promote broadcasting policy as set out in Article 5, by engaging in corrupt practices, or for gross negligence of duty;
 - 9.2.3. is no longer able to perform his or her duties effectively, whether due to physical or mental disability or any other cause; or
 - 9.2.4. fails, without valid excuse, to attend three consecutive meetings of the Council.
- 9.3. The Prime Minister may remove a Member from office but only upon receiving the agreement of either the body which nominated that Member or the other four Members.
- 9.4. No Member shall be removed from office without first being given an opportunity to be heard.
- 9.5. Any Member who is removed from office pursuant to this Article shall be provided with written reasons for his or her removal and shall have the right to appeal his or her removal to the courts.
- 9.6. A Member may at any time resign his or her office by giving notice in writing to the Minister.
- 9.7. Where a Member is removed from office, or a Member resigns or dies, that Member shall be duly replaced under the same conditions, and in the same manner, as he or she was appointed.

Article 10: Remuneration of Members

- 10.1. Members of the Council shall be compensated for actual expenses, including travel, accommodation and subsistence, incurred as a result of their duties as members of the Council.
- 10.2. Members of the Council shall receive compensation on an equal basis for attendance at Council meetings, based on a schedule which has been agreed in advance and approved as part of the process for agreeing the Council's budget.

Article 11: Rules of Procedure

11.1. The Council shall appoint its own Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson from among its Members.

- 11.2. The Council shall, subject to this Law, adopt such rules, in relation to meetings and other matters, as it considers necessary and appropriate to enable it to perform its functions and all business shall be conducted in accordance with such rules.
- 11.3. The Council shall meet as often as it deems necessary and shall, in any case, meet at least once in every two months.
- 11.4. Meetings of the Council shall be convened by the Chairperson, or in his or her absence the Vice-Chairperson, provided that it shall be mandatory to convene a meeting within seven days of a request for such a meeting by not less than two Members.
- 11.5. The Chairperson or, in his or her absence the Vice-Chairperson, shall preside at all meetings of the Council.
- 11.6. The quorum for meetings of the Council shall be three members.
- 11.7. A decision at a meeting of the Council shall be adopted by a simple majority of the Members present and voting except as otherwise decided by the Council. In case of an equality of votes, the Member presiding at the meeting shall have a casting vote in addition to his or her original vote.
- 11.8. Minutes shall be kept in proper form of each meeting of the Council and shall be confirmed by the Council at the next meeting and signed by the Member presiding at the meeting.

Article 12: Disclosure of Interest

- 12.1. A Member of the Council who has, directly or indirectly, an interest in a matter under discussion by the Council shall disclose that fact and the nature of his or her interest to the Council.
- 12.2. A disclosure under sub-article 12.1 shall be recorded in the minutes of the Council or committee.
- 12.3. After a disclosure under sub-article 12.1, the Member in question:
 - 12.3.1. shall not take part in nor be present during any discussion, deliberation or decision of the Council; but
 - 12.3.2. may be counted for the purpose of forming a quorum of the Council.

CHAPTER FOUR

Functions, Duties and Powers of the Council

Article 13: Functions of the Council

- 13.1. The Council is charged with the oversight of broadcasting, consistent with constitutional and international guarantees of freedom of expression, and with promoting the public interest in the broadcasting sector.
- 13.2. The functions of the Council are:
 - 13.2.1. to oversee the development of the Advertising Code and Programme Code;
 - 13.2.2. to oversee the implementation of the Advertising Code and Programme Code; and
 - 13.2.3. to ensure that the other rules provided for in this Law are respected by licensees.
- 13.3. In discharging its responsibilities, the Council shall endeavour to promote broadcasting policy as set out in Article 5.

Article 14: Powers of the Council

14.1. The Council shall have all such powers as may be reasonably necessary for the purpose of carrying out its functions under this Law and of regulating its own procedure.

Article 15: Investigations

15.1. The Council shall have the power to conduct investigations and hold hearings as necessary to discharge its responsibilities under this Law.

Article 16: Appointment of Secretariat

- 16.1. The Council shall, in accordance with the budget, establish a Secretariat, along with such staff as it considers necessary and appropriate to enable it to perform its functions.
- 16.2. The Secretariat shall be responsible to the Council for the proper administration and management of the functions of the Council in accordance with policy laid down by the Council.
- 16.3. Employees of the Council shall be independent and impartial in the exercise of their functions and shall, at all times, seek to promote broadcasting policy as set out in Article 5.

Article 17: Limitation of Liability

- 17.1. No proceedings, civil or criminal, shall lie against the Council for anything it may do or fail to do in the course of the exercise or intended exercise of its functions, unless it is shown that it did not act in good faith or with reasonable care.
- 17.2. No proceedings, civil or criminal, shall lie against any member, officer or employee of the Council for anything done or said, or any failure to do or say

anything in the course of the discharge of his or her duties as a member, officer or employee of the Council, unless it is shown that the person did not act in good faith or with reasonable care.

CHAPTER FIVE

Funding and Accountability of Council

Article 18: Fiscal Year

18.1. The Council's fiscal year shall be from the 1st day of January to the 31st day of December of each year.

Article 19: Funding for the Council

- 19.1. The Council may receive funds from the following sources:
 - 19.1.1. grants from the general budget;
 - 19.1.2. grants from local or foreign bodies;
 - 19.1.3. loans; and
 - 19.1.4. moneys received from other sources.
- 19.2. Not less than three months prior to the end of each fiscal year, the Council shall submit to the Great State Hural, through the Minister, a budget statement for the following fiscal year, including any operating funds requested by the Council from the general budget.
- 19.3. The Great State Hural may approve or modify the Council's proposed budget, provided that it shall not reduce the funds available to the Council by more than five (5) percent from the previous year.
- 19.4. Upon approval of the Council's budget by the Great State Hural, the Minister of Finance shall include that budget in the general budget and make payments to the Council for its operations on a quarterly basis in advance.
- 19.5. Notwithstanding any contrary provision in any other law, the Council shall not be liable to pay income tax on any property held or received, or on any income earned and the Council is hereby exempted from the payment of such tax.

Article 20: Audit and Annual Report

- 20.1. Within four (4) months after the end of each fiscal year the Council shall prepare a report of its activities during that fiscal year (the Annual Report).
- 20.2. The Council shall maintain accounts of all monies received and spent by it and shall, within four (4) months after the end of each fiscal year, commission an audited statement of accounts, prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice.

- 20.3. The Council shall submit copies of the Annual Report and audited accounts to the Minister, who shall cause them to be laid before the Great State Hural as soon as practicable.
- 20.4. The Annual Report shall include the following information:
 - 20.4.1. a copy of the auditor's report;
 - 20.4.2. a statement of financial performance and of cash flows;
 - 20.4.3. the budget for the current fiscal year;
 - 20.4.4. a description of the activities of the Council during the previous year;
 - 20.4.5. information relating to complaints and research;
 - 20.4.6. a description of any sanctions applied by the Council and the decisions relating thereto;
 - 20.4.7. an analysis of the extent to which the Council has met its objectives of the previous year;
 - 20.4.8. the Council's objectives for the current year; and
 - 20.4.9. any recommendations in the area of broadcasting.
- 20.5. The Council shall publish and distribute widely the Annual Report, along with its audited accounts, including through its website.

CHAPTER SIX

Frequency Planning

Article 21: Broadcasting Frequency Plan

- 21.1. The Communications Regulatory Commission shall consult with the Council and other key stakeholders to determine which part of the electromagnetic wave spectrum is from time to time assigned to be used for broadcasting uses.
- 21.2. The Commission shall, in close consultation with the Council, as well as with interested stakeholders and the Government, develop and from time to time revise a Broadcasting Frequency Plan, which shall include a locator map, in order to promote the optimal use of these frequencies and the widest possible broadcasting diversity.
- 21.3. The Broadcasting Frequency Plan shall ensure that, in accordance with broadcasting policy as set out in Article 5, the broadcasting frequency spectrum is shared equitably and in the public interest among the three types of broadcasters public, commercial and community as well as broadcasters of different geographic reach.
- 21.4. The Broadcasting Frequency Plan, along with any revisions to it, shall be published and disseminated widely.

21.5. The Broadcasting Frequency Plan may reserve certain frequencies for future use for specific categories of broadcasters in order to ensure diversity and equitable access to frequencies over time.

CHAPTER SEVEN

Licensing by the Commission

Article 22: New Licences

- 22.1. The Commission shall, from time to time, determine whether it is in the public interest, based on the Broadcasting Frequency Plan, broadcasting policy, interest by potential broadcasters and market capacity, to issue a competitive tender with a view to issuing an additional licence(s) to provide a broadcasting service(s).
- 22.2. The Commission may also, in lower population density areas, receive applications, in the absence of a call for applications, to provide a broadcasting service.
- 22.3. The Commission shall adopt regulations in advance setting out the process to be followed to apply for a licence, along with a description of what information must be provided and a published schedule of the annual licence fees.
- 22.4. Where a tender is issued pursuant to sub-article 22.1, the Council shall publish widely a notice to that effect, including the information stipulated in sub-article 22.3.
- 22.5. Applicants for a broadcasting service licence must provide at least the following information:
 - 22.5.1. their ownership structure;
 - 22.5.2. their sources of finance and proposed financial plan;
 - 22.5.3. their organisational and management structure, including the personnel and expertise available to deliver the service;
 - 22.5.4. the programme schedule or, in the case of a cable or satellite service, information about the channels proposed to be provided within the basic service, as well as any other channels which may be purchased; and
 - 22.5.5. the technical facilities for delivery of the service.
- 22.6. Applicants for a broadcasting service licence to operate at the sub-national level do not need a letter of endorsement for their application from the local governor.

Article 23: Assessing Licence Applications

- 23.1. The process by which the Commission assesses licences shall be fair, nondiscriminatory and transparent.
- 23.2. Licence applications shall include consideration of the application by the Commission at a public hearing and anyone may provide written comments on the application.
- 23.3. The Commission shall cause any applications for a broadcasting licence to be published in the *Official Gazette* at least 60 days prior to the hearing referred to in sub-article 23.2, provided that such publication shall not include sensitive commercial or other information provided by the applicant.
- 23.4. The Commission shall take the following factors into account in deciding whether or not to issue a broadcasting licence:
 - 23.4.1. the technical capacity of the applicant to deliver a quality service, taking into account the nature of the proposed service;
 - 23.4.2. the nature and extent of the financial resources of the applicant and the financial viability of the proposal;
 - 23.4.3. the effect of licensing the proposed service in terms of concentration of ownership, cross ownership and fair competition;
 - 23.4.4. promotion of the widest possible diversity of programming, taking into account the proposed Programme Schedule, the demand and the need for that service, and the broadcasting services already being provided in that area; and
 - 23.4.5. the need to promote locally produced programming which serves the needs and interests of the people of Mongolia.
- 23.5. The Commission shall provide written notice of its decisions to all applicants for broadcasting service licences. Where an application is refused, this notice shall include the reasons for the refusal, as well as information regarding the applicant's right of appeal.
- 23.6. A licence shall not be issued to an individual who is not a resident or citizen of Mongolia, or to an entity which does not have recognised legal status in Mongolia or which is subject to majority control by non-residents or non-citizens.
- 23.7. Upon the grant by the Commission of a licence under this Article, it shall cause notification of that decision to be published in the *Official Gazette*.

Article 24: Licence Renewals

- 24.1. An application for the renewal of a licence shall be made at least four (4) months before the date of expiry of the existing licence.
- 24.2. A licensee shall be entitled to have its licence renewed, provided that the Commission may refuse to renew a licence where the licensee has operated in significant breach of its licence conditions or where this is clearly in the public interest, based on broadcasting policy as set out in Article 5.

- 24.3. At the time of renewal, either a licensee or the Commission may propose amendments to the licence conditions and the Commission may accept or reject these amendments.
- 24.4. The Commission may, when considering an application for the renewal of a licence, require such new or additional information as it may deem necessary.
- 24.5. If at the expiry of a licence the Commission has not yet reached a decision in respect of an application to renew it, the licence shall continue in effect until the application for its renewal is granted or refused by the Commission.
- 24.6. The Commission shall provide a licensee with written reasons, in advance of a final decision, of any proposed decision not to renew a licence, and shall give the licensee an opportunity to make oral and/or written representations.
- 24.7. Where the Commission does not renew a licence, it shall provide written reasons for its decision.

CHAPTER EIGHT

Licence Conditions

Article 25: General Licence Conditions

- 25.1. Licences are not transferable without the prior approval of the Commission.
- 25.2. Compliance with all matters specified in the licence application, including the Programme Schedule, is deemed to be a licence condition.
- 25.3. Terrestrial broadcasters are required to keep a master recording of all programmes and advertisements broadcast for at least twenty-eight (28) days after they have been broadcast, provided that where specific broadcast material is the subject of a dispute, the relevant broadcaster shall, at the request of the Commission or Council, keep a master recording of that broadcast material until the matter has been fully resolved.
- 25.4. Satellite broadcasters are required to keep a register of the programme channels and advertisements distributed for at least twenty-eight (28) days after they have been distributed, provided that where specific broadcast material is the subject of a dispute, the relevant broadcaster shall, at the request of the Commission or Council, keep a record of it until the matter has been fully resolved.
- 25.5. If a broadcasting service has not been initiated within six (6) months after the licence is granted, that licence shall lapse.
- 25.6. Licences shall be valid for the following periods of time:

- 25.6.1. three (3) years for a community broadcasting licence;
- 25.6.2. seven (7) years for a commercial radio broadcasting licence; and
- 25.6.3. ten (10) years for a commercial television broadcasting licence.
- 25.7. Licensees are required to report annually to the Commission on their activities, including the observance of licence conditions.

Article 26: Copyright

- 26.1. Broadcasters may only broadcast programmes which they produced or for which they hold broadcasting rights and copyright must be clearly indicated as part of the credits displayed with each programme.
- 26.2. The name of the producer of every programme shall be displayed or read out at the end of the programme.

Article 27: Undue Concentration of Ownership

- 27.1. No legal or natural person shall exercise direct or indirect control over more than one national free-to-air television service.
- 27.2. No legal or natural person shall exercise direct or indirect control over more than two free-to-air radio services available in one geographical area (i.e. overlapping services).
- 27.3. No legal or natural person shall exercise direct or indirect control over a national free-to-air television service and a national free-to-air radio service.
- 27.4. No legal or natural person shall exercise direct or indirect control over a national free-to-air broadcasting service and a national newspaper.
- 27.5. For purposes of this Article, financial or voting interests of 20% or more shall be deemed to constitute control.

Article 28: Local Content Requirements

- 28.1. Every licensed broadcaster shall be required to include within each broadcasting service the following minimum quotas of local programming:
 - 28.1.1. 20% within 6 months of the coming into force of this Law;
 - 28.1.2. 30% within 2 years of the coming into force of this Law; and
 - 28.1.3. 40% within 3 years of the coming into force of this Law.
- 28.2. In exceptional circumstances, the Commission, after consultation with the Council, may agree to delay or waive the above requirements for a particular broadcasting service.

Article 29: Additional Terms and Conditions

- 29.1. The Commission may, from time to time, by notification published in the *Official Gazette*, adopt regulations setting out general licence terms and conditions either of general application for all licensees or for different types of licensees.
- 29.2. Such terms and conditions may, among other things, stipulate:
 - 29.2.1. the minimum amount of programming to be commissioned from local independent producers; or
 - 29.2.2. the categories of information that must be provided by licensees in their annual reports to the Commission.

Article 30: Specific Licence Conditions

30.1. The Commission may attach such reasonable conditions to a broadcasting service licence as it deems necessary to promote broadcasting policy as set out in Article 5.

Article 31: Licence Condition Amendments

- 31.1. Broadcasters may propose amendments to their licences to the Commission, which may approve or refuse such amendments, provided that if the Commission fails to respond to a proposal within 30 working days after receiving it, the Commission shall be deemed to have accepted it.
- 31.2. The Commission may, in respect of any particular licence, and after giving the licence holder an opportunity to make written representations, amend of its own motion any of the prescribed conditions, including adding further conditions:
 - 31.2.1. if the Commission is of the opinion that this is necessary to promote broadcasting policy as set out in Article 5; or
 - 31.2.2. in order to give effect to any international treaty governing broadcasting matters to which Mongolia is a party.

Article 32: Restriction on Licence Conditions

- 32.1. No licence conditions shall imposed under Articles 29, 30 or 31 unless they:
 - 32.1.1. are relevant to broadcasting;
 - 32.1.2. further broadcasting policy as set out in Article 5; and
 - 32.1.3. are reasonable and realistic, given the licensee.

CHAPTER NINE

Advertising and Programme Codes

Article 33: The Advertising and Programme Codes

- 33.1. The Council shall, in consultation with broadcasters, journalists and other interested stakeholders, draw up, and from time to time review and amend, both an Advertising Code and a Programme Code for broadcasters.
- 33.2. The Codes shall be published and every licensee shall be provided with a copy of each Code.

Article 34: The Advertising Code

- 34.1. The Advertising Code shall address a range of issues relating to broadcast advertising, including the following:
 - 34.1.1. all advertisements shall be clearly identified as such;
 - 34.1.2. no broadcaster shall carry advertisements for medicines which are available only with a prescription;
 - 34.1.3. the maximum daily and hourly advertising which may be carried by different licensed broadcasting services, which shall in no case exceed 20% of total daily programming, provided that, for this purpose, sponsorship shall not be deemed to constitute advertising;
 - 34.1.4. except in accordance with this Article or any regulations promulgated by the election commissions or pursuant to the Law on the State Great Hural Elections of Mongolia or the Law on the Presidential Elections of Mongolia, no broadcaster shall carry any advertisement for or on behalf of any political party or candidate for election to political office; and
 - 34.1.5. subject to any regulations promulgated by the election commissions or pursuant to the Law on the State Great Hural Elections of Mongolia or the Law on the Presidential Elections of Mongolia, the Council may, by notification published in the *Official Gazette*, adopt regulations regarding political advertisements during elections, provided that any such regulations shall be based on the principle that parties and candidates should be granted equitable, non-discriminatory access to licensees.
- 34.2. The Advertising Code may also set rules regarding programme sponsorship.

Article 35: The Programme Code

- 35.1. The Programme Code shall address a range of issues relating to programming including, among other things, the following:
 - 35.1.1. balance and impartiality in news and current affairs programming and the duty to strive for accuracy in these programmes;
 - 35.1.2. protection of children;
 - 35.1.3. classification of programmes, including films, according to the recommended age of viewers;
 - 35.1.4. the terms, conduct and editing of interviews;

- 35.1.5. the use of covert recording and subterfuge;
- 35.1.6. keeping within accepted boundaries of taste and decency, including in relation to the portrayal of sexual conduct and violence, the use of strong or abusive language, and the broadcasting of text messages sent in by viewers or listeners;
- 35.1.7. the coverage of crime and anti-social behaviour;
- 35.1.8. distinguishing between factual material and comment;
- 35.1.9. the treatment of religion, ethnic minorities, women and men, minors and disadvantaged groups;
- 35.1.10. respect for privacy; and
- 35.1.11. the use of subliminal images or sounds.
- 35.2. In developing and implementing the Programme Code, the Council shall have due regard to the rightful place in a pluralist democratic society of robust and challenging debate, of the strong expression of personal views, of the need for original, innovative and stimulating programme-making and of the potential for achieving proper balance over a series of programmes, or over time, rather than in every individual programme.

Article 36: Compliance

36.1. Compliance with the Advertising and Programme Codes are deemed to be mandatory licence conditions.

CHAPTER TEN

Breach of the Codes

Article 37: Complaints and Monitoring

- 37.1. Anyone who believes that a licensee has breached the Advertising Code or the Programme Code may lodge a complaint in writing with the Council and the Council shall investigate every such complaint, unless it considers the complaint to be frivolous or manifestly unfounded.
- 37.2. It shall be the duty of the Council to ensure that all licensees comply with the Codes and, to this end, the Council may monitor licensees and undertake an investigation where it believes there may have been a breach.

Article 38: Investigations

38.1. Where it conducts an investigation pursuant to Article 37, the Council shall provide the broadcaster with adequate written notice of any allegation of a breach and with a reasonable opportunity to make representations. In the case of a complaint, the Council shall also provide the complainant with a reasonable opportunity to make representations.

- 38.2. The Council shall, absent exceptional circumstances, come to a decision in relation to a complaint within two (2) months.
- 38.3. Where the Council decides that a licensee is in breach of the Advertising or Programme Code, it shall publish its decision, including reasons for its decision, any sanction to be imposed pursuant to Article 39 and notification of the broadcaster's right to appeal from this decision. The Council shall provide the broadcaster and, where relevant the complainant, with a copy of its decision.

Article 39: Sanctions

- 39.1. Where the Council determines that a licensee is in breach of the Advertising or Programme Code, it may apply one or more of the following sanctions:
 - 39.1.1. issue an internal instruction to the licensee;
 - 39.1.2. issue a public written warning to the broadcaster;
 - 39.1.3. order the broadcaster to broadcast a statement, correction or retraction at a specified time and in a specified form; or
 - 39.1.4. order the broadcaster to take such action or desist from taking such action as it deems necessary to rectify or prevent repetition of the breach.
- 39.2. In cases of repeated breach of licence conditions, the Council may order a licensee to pay a fine not exceeding 2% of its total revenues for the previous year, provided that such fines shall be paid into general government revenues.
- 39.3. In cases of repeated and gross breach of licence conditions, the Council may order the suspension of part or all of the Programme Schedule of a licensee, or terminate its licence.
- 39.4. For breach of a rule relating to broadcast content, the Council shall not impose the sanctions provided for in sub-articles 39.2 or 39.3 except as decided by at least three (3) Members and where other sanctions have failed to prevent further breach.
- 39.5. Failure to comply with an order of the Council under this Article shall be deemed to be contempt of court and, where a licensee fails within a reasonable time to comply with such an order, the Council may request the prosecutor to institute contempt proceedings.

Article 40: Appeals

40.1. Any person aggrieved by a decision of the Council under this Chapter may appeal to the courts for a review of that decision.

CHAPTER ELEVEN

Final Provisions

Article 41: Institutional Arrangements

- 41.1. Broadcasters already in existence on the date this Law comes into force shall make any necessary adjustments to comply with the provisions of this Law within six (6) months of that date.
- 41.2. The Council shall be established within six (6) months of this Law coming into force.

Article 42: Rules and Regulations

- 42.1. The Minister may, by notification published in the *Official Gazette*, make rules and regulations for carrying out the purposes of this Law, provided that such rules and regulations are not inconsistent with this Law.
- 42.2. In particular, the Minister may make rules or regulations relating to:
 - 42.2.1. the manner for appointing and/or removing members of the Council, pursuant to Articles 7 and 9; and
 - 42.2.2. remuneration of members of the Council, pursuant to Article 10.
- 42.3. The Council make, among other things, adopt rules relating to:
 - 42.3.1. its rules of procedure, pursuant to sub-article 11.2;
 - 42.3.2. dealing with conflicts of interest, pursuant to Articles 12;
 - 42.3.3. the conduct of investigations, pursuant to Article 15;
 - 42.3.4. the appointment of the Secretariat, pursuant to sub-article 16.1;
 - 42.3.5. the Advertising or Programme Codes, respectively, pursuant to Article 33;
 - 42.3.6. the process for conducting investigations pursuant to section 38; and
 - 42.3.7. the imposition of sanctions, pursuant to section 39.
- 42.4. The Commission make, among other things, adopt rules relating to:
 - 42.4.1. the tendering process for licences, pursuant to sub-article 22.3;
 - 42.4.2. the process for assessing licence applications, pursuant to Article 23; and
 - 42.4.3. additional licence terms and conditions, pursuant to section 29;